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UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT 

SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF INDIANA 

INDIANAPOLIS DIVISION 
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Case No.: 18-09108-RLM-11 

 

OBJECTION OF THE NATIONAL GYMNASTICS FOUNDATION 

TO THE ADDITIONAL TORT CLAIMANTS COMMITTEE OF  

SEXUAL ABUSE SURVIVORS’ MOTION PURSUANT TO RULE 2004  

DIRECTING PRODUCTION OF DOCUMENTS AND MATERIALS 

The National Gymnastics Foundation, Inc. (“Foundation”), by and through its counsel, 

hereby objects to the motion of the Additional Tort Claimants Committee of Sexual Abuse 

Survivors (“Committee”) for entry of an order directing the Foundation to produce documents 

and materials (“Motion”) identified in the Committee’s proposed Subpoena (“Subpoena”) 

attached as Exhibit A to the Motion.  In support of its Objection, the Foundation respectfully 

states as follows:  

First, the “pending proceeding” rule precludes the issuance of a Rule 2004 subpoena 

here.  Second, and more importantly, the Committee’s stated purpose is to explore consolidation 

of the Foundation’s assets with those of the Debtor (or the equivalent argument that the 

Foundation’s assets are “property of the estate”) – but a non-debtor may not be consolidated with 

a debtor as a matter of law, and even if the Court determines that it has authority to consolidate 

non-debtors, it cannot consolidate the Foundation, a non-moneyed non-debtor corporation, under 

                                                      
1
 The last four digits of the Debtor’s federal tax identification number are 7871.   
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11 U.S.C. § 303(a) as a matter of law. Lastly, the Committee lacks standing to pursue such 

claims, making the Motion a pointless exercise.
2
   

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT 

The Committee was formed to represent the interests of the “sexual abuse survivors” and 

is thus named the “The Additional Tort Claimants Committee of Sexual Abuse Survivors.”  The 

Committee has the laudable objective of maximizing the recovery to the survivors of sexual 

abuse, consistent with the interests of all stakeholders in this case to make sure that such acts do 

not occur again.  But the Foundation’s charitable and educational purposes are to support, 

further, and develop the hopes of the approximately 200,000 aspiring male and female gymnasts 

nationwide, across six gymnastic disciplines.  If the assets of the Foundation are consolidated 

with those of the Debtor, and are used exclusively to pay the survivors’ claims, the Foundation 

will no longer be able to support the amateur, collegiate and elite gymnasts that have devoted 

their lives to the pursuant of this sport, including most notably, the athletes vying for a spot on 

the 2020 United States Olympic team.       

Substantive Consolidation will effectively end the Foundation, which will 

contemporaneously end the hopes of hundreds, if not thousands of young aspiring athletes.  

Thus, the Committee’s effort to consolidate (and thereby terminate) the Foundation’s assets with 

those of the Debtor’s estate is plainly inconsistent with Foundation’s charitable purposes and the 

interests of young athletes all over the country who need the Foundation’s support.  Accordingly, 

on behalf of the Foundation and all aspiring gymnasts across the country it serves, and whose 

                                                      
2
 Foundation counsel conferred with Committee counsel on Friday, May 10, 2019, in an effort to address the 

Committee’s discovery demands as well as the ultimate claims the Committee seeks to “explore,” to avoid the need 

for a contested hearing on the Motion.  Unfortunately, Committee counsel insists on pursuing formal discovery 

under Rule 2004, which the Foundation opposes for the reasons stated herein.  
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dreams the Foundation supports, the Foundation respectfully requests that the Court deny the 

Committee’s Motion. 

BACKGROUND 

 The Foundation is a charitable 501(c)(3) organization, created in 1984 following the Los 

Angeles Olympic Games to provide sustainability and promote the sport of gymnastics and 

provide ongoing education and outreach to amateur and elite gymnasts across the country.   The 

Foundation is not a debtor and is not in bankruptcy.  The Foundation is a separate legal entity 

from the Debtor, with a separate Board of Directors. See Declaration of James Scott 

Shollenbarger in Support of Chapter 11 Petition and Requests for First Day Relief (“First Day 

Dec.”) at ¶ 10. [Dkt. No. 8].  

 Pre-petition, the Debtor was a named defendant in more than 100 lawsuits brought by 

survivors of sexual abuse asserted as a result of misconduct by Larry Nassar (“Nassar”). See 

First Day Dec. at ¶ 12.  More than 350 individuals have asserted pre-petition claims against the 

Debtor, with more than $1 billion in claims (most tort-claims by survivors) filed against the 

Debtor as of the bar date (“Bar Date”). See First Day Dec. at ¶ 21, and the Claims Docket 

maintained by Debtor’s Claims Agent, Omni Management.   

 The Foundation was not a named defendant in any of the lawsuits filed against the 

Debtor, and was unaware of the assertion of any claims against it until the Bar Date, on which 

date a class action was filed in the United States District Court for the Southern District of 

Indiana, Indianapolis Division, by a purported class of survivors, who assert that they were 

abused by individual(s) associated with the Debtor, other than Nassar (the “Class”).  See, 

Cutright et al. v. USA Gymnastics, et al. Civil Action No. 1:19-cv-01716-JRS-TAB (the “Class 

Action”), a copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit A. 
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 The Class Action was voluntarily dismissed without prejudice as against the Debtor and 

Foundation (but remains pending as to the other named defendants) after being advised by 

Debtor’s counsel that (a) the filing of the Class Action violated the automatic stay as against the 

Debtor, and (b) the claims pled by the Class against the Foundation were essentially fraudulent 

conveyance claims that could only be brought by the Debtor, and that it was, therefore, violative 

of the automatic stay for the Class to pursue them.  Upon information and belief, the survivor 

claimant constituency represented by the Committee includes the members of the Class that 

commenced (and asserts the claims in) the Class Action against the Foundation. 

 On April 26, 2019, one business day before the Bar Date of April 29, 2019 (the date on 

which the Class Action was filed), the Committee filed its Motion for authority to issue the 

Subpoena seeking information, documents, corporate records, and related discovery directly 

relevant to the claims asserted in the Class Action.  [Dkt. No. 435].   

 The Class (members of the Committee’s constituency) has not waived its claims against 

the Foundation (or Debtor).  The Class Action and Committee R. 2004 Motion were filed 

virtually contemporaneously. The Committee’s effort to obtain expedited Rule 2004 discovery 

on a far broader scope than would be permitted in the Class Action pending in the District Court 

under the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure would unduly prejudice the Foundation, which has 

not been released from the Class Action claims.    

I. Discovery Pursuant to 2004 is Inappropriate 

The party seeking Rule 2004 discovery has the burden to show good cause for the 

examination it seeks, and relief lies in the sound discretion of the Bankruptcy Court. In re 

SunEdison, Inc., 572 B.R. 482, 489 (Bankr. S.D.N.Y. 2017); Matter of Wilcher, 56 B.R. 428, 434 

(Bankr. N.D. Ill. 1985) (finding Rule 2004 examination improper and nevertheless no good 
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cause shown).  A party seeking to conduct a Rule 2004 examination must also show good cause, 

such as the proposed examination “is necessary to establish the claim of the party seeking the 

examination or …denial of such request would cause the examiner undue hardship or injustice.” 

Id. (citing In re Metiom, Inc., 318 B.R. 263, 268 (S.D.N.Y. 2004)); In re J & R Trucking, Inc., 

431 B.R. 818, 821 (Bankr. N.D. Ind. 2010) (stating, “whether or not the court allows the 

examination is a matter committed to its discretion” and “requires a sufficient cause.”).  And the 

Court must “balance the competing interests of the parties, weighing the relevance of and 

necessity of the information sought by examination.” Id., citing In re Drexel Burnham Lambert 

Grp., Inc., 123 B.R. 702, 712 (Bankr. S.D.N.Y. 1991).    

While the allowable scope of examination under Rule 2004 is broad, it remains subject to 

limitations like the “pending proceeding rule.” In re National Risk Assessment, Inc., 547 B.R. 63, 

65 (Bankr. W.D.N.Y. 2016).  In re J & R Trucking, Inc., 431 B.R. at 821  (“Although a Rule 

2004 examination is obviously an investigatory device and it is conducted under oath, it should 

not be confused with discovery or a discovery deposition.”). The well-recognized rule is that 

once an adversary proceeding or contested matter has been commenced, discovery is made 

pursuant to Rule 7026 et seq. rather than a Rule 2004 examination. In re Bennett Funding Group, 

Inc., 203 B.R. 24, 28 (Bankr. S.D.N.Y. 1996).   See also, In re Enron Corp., 281 B.R. 836, 840 

(Bankr. S.D.N.Y. 2002).   

Indeed, “[a] 2004 examination, on the other hand, not only does not require the existence 

of litigation to justify the inquiry, but, such a dispute prevents recourse to it.” In re J & R 

Trucking, Inc., 431 B.R. at 821.  And the principle applies equally to the Class Action.  In re 

SunEdison, Inc., supra., citing Snyder v. Society Bank, 181 B.R. 40, 42 (S.D. Tex. 1994), aff’d 

sub nom. In re Synder, 52 F.3d 1067 (5th Cir. 1995).   The “pending proceeding” rule is based on 
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the different safeguards that attend Rule 2004 and civil litigation discovery and reflects a concern 

that a party to litigation could circumvent his adversary’s rights by using Rule 2004 rather than 

civil discovery to obtain documents or information relevant to the lawsuit.
3
  In re SunEdison, 

Inc., supra. at 490, citing IN re Glitner bankihf., No. 08-14757 (SMB), 2011 WL 362764, at *4 

(Bankr. S.D.N.Y. 2011); In re Wash. Mut., Inc., 408 B.R. 45, 51 (Bankr. D. Del. 2009); In re 

Enron Corp., 281 B.R. at 840-841; Bennett Funding Group, 203 B.R. at 29–30.   

Discovery of evidence “related” to the pending proceeding must be accomplished in 

accord with the more restrictive provisions of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure.  In re 

Bennett Funding, 203 B.R. at 29. As in SunEdison, supra., the Class Action is a “pending 

proceeding” within the meaning of the rule. Id., at 490 (where the Judge Bernstein found that a 

state court action between two non-debtors was a “pending proceeding”).  See also In re 

Comdisco, Inc., No. 01 B 24795, 2006 WL 2375458, at *6 (N.D. Ill. Aug. 14, 2006) (“Rule 

2004 is a pre-litigation discovery device for bankruptcy proceedings, and when an adversary 

proceeding or contested matter has commenced, discovery must be made pursuant to the Federal 

Rules.”)   

The Class sued the Debtor and the Foundation in the Class Action to recover on claims 

represented by the Committee. See § 1102(b)(1) of the Bankruptcy Code.  The Committee 

expressly seeks discovery relating to all of the Foundations articles of incorporation, bylaws, 

“accounts for its general ledger…,” financial statements, minutes of its board of directors 

meetings, names of all of its officers and directors of the Foundation from its inception. See the 

Subpoena at Exhibit B.  Plainly, the discovery sought by the Committee is “related” to the 

                                                      
3
 For example, under a rule 2004 examination, a witness has no general right to representation by counsel, and the 

right to object to immaterial or improper questions is limited. In re Bennett Funding Group, 203 B.R. at 28, citing In 

re Dinubilo, 177 B.R. 932 (E.D.Ca. 1993); In re French, 145 B.R. 991, 992 (Bankr. D.S.D. 1992); and In re GHR 

Energy Corp., 33 B.R. 451, 453 (Bankr. D. Mass. 1983).   
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factual and legal assertions made in the Class Action (see ¶¶ 7, 25-30 of the Class Action 

complaint attached as Exhibit A). See also In re J & R Trucking, Inc., 431 B.R. at 822 (“In 

assessing the propriety of a request for a 2004 examination, its purpose as an investigatory 

device arising out of the needs of the trustee should be kept in mind, and where a proposed 

examination goes beyond that purpose it should be carefully scrutinized.”).  

The Committee has already decided to pursue consolidation of the Foundation’s assets 

(that have historically been and are today being used to make individual scholarships and 

charitable grants to entities other than the Debtor
4
) with the Debtor’s estate and is deploying 

Rule 2004 as an impermissible pre-litigation fishing expedition. See ¶ 2 of the Motion.  The 

Committee’s intended consolidation action is consistent with the Class’ objective of reaching the 

Foundation’s assets to satisfy the Class’s claims.  The Committee’s misuse the Rule 2004 

process for its litigious advantage should not be countenanced. Cf. In re Sheetz, 452 B.R. 746, 

748 (Bankr. N.D. Ind. 2011) (allowing the trustee to complete Rule 2004 discovery, so that it can 

obtain accurate information concerning payments due on account of its claim).  

As the District Court held in In re Dinubilo, 177 B.R. 932, 940 (E.D. Ca. 1993), cited by 

J&R Trucking, Inc., 431 B.R. at 820, and In re Sheetz, 452 B.R. at 748: 

“The broad reach of a Rule 2004 examination and its curtailment of 

the rights of the witness when compared with the witness’s rights in a 

deposition conducted under the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, 

requires that a court not treat them interchangeably.  Without any 

limiting principles on the use of Rule 2004 as a discovery tool, 

Rule 9014, adopting the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure for 

conducting discovery in contested bankruptcy matters, would be 

rendered superfluous. Two limiting principles on the Rule’s 

application can be gleaned from case law: 1) a Rule 2004 

                                                      
4
 For example, during the last three years (2016 – 2018), the Foundation paid $102,045, $137,613 and $147,500, 

respectively, for scholarships to aspiring gymnasts including the Zimpfer Scholarship Fund (awarded to a men’s 

National Team member), the Men’s Scholarship Fund, the Trampoline and Tumbling Scholarship Fund and the 

Collegiate Gymnastics Development Fund. 
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examination is utilized for the purpose of identifying the assets and 

transactions involving the debtor’s estate; and 2) it is generally used 

as a prelitigation device, during the short period before a matter 

becomes contested.”  (Emphasis added). 

 

 

The Bankruptcy Court in J&R Trucking, Inc., commented “no matter how artfully one 

tries to disguise the requested examinations, by dressing them up in the robes of bankruptcy 

administration,” their real purposes was to identify another entity the proponent might be able to 

collect from, and thus denied the requested 2004 discovery.   J&R Trucking, Inc., 431 B.R. at 

822. In addition, the District Court in Dinubilo further noted that “[w]henever there is an actual 

dispute, other than an adversary proceeding, before the bankruptcy court, the litigation to resolve 

that dispute is a contested matter. Advisory Committee note on Rule 9014. The Advisory 

Committee explains that even ‘when an objection is not formally required, there may be a 

dispute’ which is a contested matter.  In fact, a matter may be ‘contested’ merely by the fact that 

the Rule 2004 examination itself is being opposed.” In re Dinubilo, 177 B.R. at 941 (citing In re 

Apex Oil Co., 101 B.R. 92, 101 (Bankr. E.D. Mo. 1989) (explaining that a contested motion to 

conduct a Rule 2004 examination requires that Rule 9014 be employed)).    

The Committee’s express statement that the Debtor’s “powers under sections 544-550 of 

the Bankruptcy Code, inclusive, can be used to bring [the Foundation’s] assets into the estate” is 

a “contested matter,” and the parties should engage in discovery governed by the Federal Rules 

of Civil Procedure.  See ¶ 2 of the Motion [Dkt. No. 435].
5
  

For these and other good reasons, the Foundation should be afforded the rights of a 

litigant under the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. The Committee has already telegraphed its 
                                                      
5
 The Committee’s Motion is also premised on factual infirmities. For example, the Motion is premised, in part, on 

the assertion that the Debtor owes substantial debt to the Foundation.  See ¶ 2(i) of the Motion [Dkt. No. 435].  On a 

preliminary review, the Foundation believes the Committee has misinterpreted its Forms 990 and reached an 

erroneous conclusion that there are outstanding monetary claims against or amounts due between the Debtor and the 

Foundation.  But, in any event, the Committee can explore that claim by requesting evidence and documentation 

directly from the Debtor in this case and without involving the Foundation.   
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intent to pursue substantive consolidation (or to make the equivalent argument that the 

Foundation’s assets are property of the Debtor’s estate) of the Foundation’s assets with those of 

the Debtor’s estate and should not be allowed to use Rule 2004 to the detriment of the 

Foundation as a prospective litigant, where similar claims have already been made in a pending 

Class Action. The relief sought by the Committee conflicts with all applicable law, and the 

present procedural and substantive posture of the disputes by and amongst the parties warrants 

denial of the Motion. 

II. The Rule 2004 Examination Serves No Legitimate Purpose 

Because the Committee’s objective is to substantively consolidate the Foundation’s 

property with property of the estate, the Motion must fail for two additional and fundamental 

reasons: (a) the Court cannot, as a matter of law, consolidate a non-debtor, non-profit charitable 

organization with the Debtor, because it would be the equivalent of an impermissible involuntary 

petition against a non-profit organization, in violation of § 303(a) of the Bankruptcy Code; and 

(b) the Committee lacks the requisite standing to pursue such relief.       

A. The Committee Lacks Standing to Seek Substantive Consolidation  

 

The Motion must fail initially because the Committee lacks standing to pursue such 

relief. The trustee or debtor-in-possession has the sole responsibility to account for, seek 

turnover of, or avoid and recover property of the estate. See, e.g., 11 U.S.C. §§ 542(b), 544, 547, 

548 and 1107. The thrust of the Motion is that the Committee should be allowed to conduct a 

“fishing expedition” into the financial affairs and corporate governance of the Foundation since 

its inception, in order to consolidate the Foundation’s assets with those of the Debtor’s estate. 

See ¶ 2 of the Motion [Dkt. No. 435].  Such claims, however, are found in sections 544, 547, and 

548 of the Bankruptcy, that the Committee lacks standing to pursue. See In re Strom, 97 B.R. 
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532, 539 (Bankr. D. Minn. 1989), aff’d, 921 F.2d 836 (8th Cir. 1991) (citing Nebraska State 

Bank v. Jones, 846 F.2d 477, 477 (8th Cir. 1988)).  

The Committee cannot be permitted to end-run its inability to raise alleged turnover or 

avoidance claims under the guise of a discovery motion in anticipation of its efforts to 

substantively consolidate non-debtors with a debtor’s bankruptcy estate. In re Archdiocese of 

Milwaukee, 483 B.R. 693, 697 (Bankr. E.D. Wis. 2012) (denying committee’s motion for 

standing on substantive consolidation claims).  The same firm, Pachulski, Stang, Ziehl & Jones, 

LLP, representing the Committee in this case also represented the Committee in the Milwaukee 

case (Case No. 11-20059 (SVK)), where the Court denied the Committee standing to pursue 

alter ego and substantive consolidation claims.  See Memorandum Decision of the Committee’s 

Motion for Standing on Alter Ego and Substantive Consolidation Claims, attached hereto as 

Exhibit C.  

In Cyberco Holdings, Inc., the bankruptcy court for the Western District of Michigan 

considered whether an entity other than the trustee or debtor-in-possession has standing to 

pursue substantive consolidation. 431 B.R. 404 (Bankr. W.D. Mich. 2010). The Cyberco court 

determined that a creditor seeking substantive consolidation is tantamount to pursuing turnover 

claims under section 542 or other Chapter 5 claims, which belong exclusively to the trustee or 

debtor in possession. Id. at 432 (citing cases). The court noted if a creditor is to pursue such 

claims, it would need to seek derivative standing. Id. at 433.  Similarly, in In re Archdiocese of 

Milwaukee, the bankruptcy court denied the committee (represented by the same attorneys 

representing the Committee here) motion requesting standing on alter ego and substantive 

consolidation claims.  The court reasoned inter alia that the committee failed to demonstrate the 

exception to the rules vesting the trustee or debtor-in possession with authority to prosecute 
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actions to confer it standing to bring its alter ego claim and claim for substantive consolidation. 

In re Archdiocese of Milwaukee, 483 B.R. at 697.   

The Committee, in sum, has no inherent ability to pursue these types of claims and would 

need to obtain derivative standing to do so. “Derivative standing is the exception rather than the 

rule….” In re Foster, 516 B.R. 537, 542 (B.A.P. 8th Cir. 2014), aff’d, 602 F. App’x 356 (8th Cir. 

2015). In the Seventh Circuit, a creditor seeking derivative standing is only available in narrow 

circumstances.  “When (a) the trustee unjustifiably refuses a demand to pursue the action; (b) the 

creditor establishes a colorable claim or cause of action; and (c) the creditor seeks and obtains 

leave from the bankruptcy court to prosecute the action for and in the name of the trustee, then 

may an individual creditor or creditors’ committee prosecute an action originally vested in the 

trustee.” Matter of Perkins, 902 F.2d 1254, 1258 (7th Cir. 1990).  

Here, the Committee has failed every element of the standing test. It has not petitioned 

the debtor in possession to bring a substantive consolidation action, it has not sought permission 

to initiate an adversary proceeding, there has been no unjustifiable refusal to pursue its claim. 

More importantly, as explained below, its claims are not colorable as a matter of law. 

To cause the estate and the Foundation (a non-profit charitable organization) to expend 

substantial time and expense in responding to an unbridled Rule 2004 subpoena (asking for all of 

the Foundation’s financial and corporate documents from its inception) in order to allow the 

Committee to ascertain whether it will pursue a claim it cannot pursue as a matter of law is  

wasteful, and serves no legitimate purpose.
6
   

                                                      
6
 See, for example, Matter of Wilcher, 56 B.R. 428, 440 (Bankr. N.D. Ill. 1985) (denying Rule 

2004 discovery because “res judicata and collateral estoppel operate as a bar not only to actual 

relitigation but also to discovery which can only lead to relitigation of closed matters”); In re 

Kearney, 590 B.R. 913, 923 (Bankr. D.N.M. 2018) (Only granting motion to the extent that 

information already disclosed because, inter alia, “the fact remains that Debtor seeks extensive 

discovery on claims his bankruptcy estate does not own.”); and In re Argon Credit, LLC, 596 
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B. The Court May Not Substantively Consolidate the Assets of Non-Debtors 

with a Debtor. 

 

Substantive consolidation, if it is available at all, is available only under very limited 

circumstances. There is no authority in the Seventh Circuit permitting a bankruptcy court to 

consolidate a non-debtor with a debtor. In re KMC Real Estate Inv’rs, LLC, 531 B.R. 758, 768 

(S.D. Ind. 2015) (“Substantive consolidation is not addressed in the Bankruptcy Code.”); In re 

Archdiocese of Milwaukee, 483 B.R. at 699) (“The Bankruptcy Code does not expressly provide 

for substantive consolidation; it is an equitable doctrine that ‘treats separate legal entities as if 

they were merged into a single survivor left with all the cumulative assets and liabilities.’” 

(quoting In re Owens Corning, 419 F.3d 195, 205 (3d Cir. 2005)). One Illinois District Court 

commented that, “neither this court nor the parties could find a published decision from a panel 

of the Seventh Circuit in which the substantive consolidation of non-debtor third parties with a 

Chapter 7 debtor was permitted. In re Concepts Am., Inc., No. 14 B 34232, 2018 WL 2085615, 

at *4 (Bankr. N.D. Ill. May 3, 2018);  See also id. (stating, “Our Circuit has shown a distinct lack 

of enthusiasm for a bankruptcy court’s use of 11 U.S.C. § 105 and for creating rights based 

entirely on considerations of equity.”); Johnson v. First Nat’l Bank of Montevideo, 719 F.2d 270, 

274 (8th Cir.  1983), cert. denied, 465 U.S. 1012 (1984) (stating “absent a specific grant of 

authority from Congress or exceptional circumstances, a bankruptcy court may not exercise its 

equitable powers to create substantive rights which do not exist under state law.”). 

The substantive consolidation sought by the Committee has no textual basis in the 

Bankruptcy Code and could only be ordered pursuant to the bankruptcy court’s equitable power 

under Section 105. See, e.g., In re Petters Co., Inc., 506 B.R. 784, 792 (Bankr. D. Minn. 2013) 

(substantive consolidation is “a construct of federal common law, eminat[ing] from equity, as 
                                                                                                                                                                           

B.R. 882 (Bankr. N.D. Ill. 2019) (prohibiting requested discovery because movant barred from 

obtaining discovery under subordination agreement). 
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available by virtue of [the] general equitable powers of the federal courts, and as having no 

express statutory basis, but [being] a product of judicial gloss.”) (internal quotations and 

citations omitted). While some courts have granted a motion to substantively consolidate a 

debtor with non-debtors under section 105, see, e.g., In re S & G Financial Services of South 

Florida, 451 B.R. 573 (Bankr. S.D. Fla. 2011), numerous other courts reject the premise that 

section 105 permits bankruptcy courts to substantively consolidate non-debtors, or, in other 

words, “force entities to join the bankruptcy case whether they agree or not.” E.g., In re 

Pearlman, 462 B.R. 849, 854 (Bankr. M.D. Fla. 2012). “These courts conclude that substantive 

consolidation is purely a bankruptcy remedy and does not extend to the assets and affairs of a 

non-debtor.” Id. (citing In re Circle Land and Cattle Corp., 213 B.R. 870, 877 (Bankr. D. Kan. 

1997); In re Alpha & Omega Realty, Inc., 36 B.R. 416 (Bankr. D. Idaho 1984); In re DRW 

Property Co. 82, 54 B.R. 489 (Bankr. N.D. Tex. 1985); In re R.H.N. Realty Corp., 84 B.R. 356 

(Bankr. S.D.N.Y. 1988); In re The Julien Co., 120 B.R. 930; In re Lease–A–Fleet, 141 B.R. 869 

(Bankr. E.D. Pa. 1992); In re Ira S. Davis, Inc., 1993 WL 384501 (E.D. Pa. Sept. 22, 1993); In 

re Hamilton, 186 B.R. 991 (Bankr. D. Colo. 1995)). See also In re KMC Real Estate Inv’rs, 

LLC, 531 B.R. at 768 (recognizing the limited use of consolidation).  

The Seventh Circuit recently endorsed the exercise of a court’s equitable powers when it 

serves one of the central objectives of the Bankruptcy Code. In re Caesars Entertainment 

Operating Co., Inc., 808 F. 3rd 1186, 1188 (7th Cir. 2015) (“Though section 105(a) does not 

give the bankruptcy court carte blanche—the court cannot, for example, take an action prohibited 

by another provision of the Bankruptcy Code—it grants the extensive equitable powers that 

bankruptcy courts need in order to be able to perform their statutory duties.” (citations omitted)). 

If it would serve one of those objectives, granting the relief would be appropriate “since 
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successful resolution of disputes arising in bankruptcy proceedings is one of the Code’s central 

objectives.” Id. at 1188–89.  However, in an exhaustive analysis, the Court in In re Concepts 

America, Inc. analyzed Seventh Circuit case law as well as other Circuit decisions and concluded 

that non-debtor substantive consolidation is not a remedy available to a court sitting in the 

Seventh Circuit. See id., 2018 WL 2085615, at *4.   

The Eighth Circuit recently reviewed this exact issue and held that substantive 

consolidation of a non-profit debtor with non-debtor, non-profit entities was prohibited under the 

Bankruptcy Code.  In re Archdiocese of Saint Paul & Minneapolis, 888 F.3d 944, 948 (8th Cir. 

2018) (the Eighth Circuit affirmed the lower courts’ unanimous rejection of the committee of 

survivors’ action to substantively consolidate the assets of non-profit, charitable non-debtors 

with the assets of the diocesan debtor’s estate as impermissible under the Bankruptcy Code).  

Similarly, Judge Kishel recently found that substantive consolidation extends only to related 

debtor estates. See Kelley v. Opportunity Finance, LLC (In re Petters Company, Inc.), 550 B.R. 

438, 455, 2016 WL 2990343, at *14 (Bankr. D. Minn. May 19, 2016) (“Substantive 

consolidation applies only to the estates as entities that arise in a bankruptcy case; and in its 

application as an equity remedy it cannot alter or circumvent the positive substantive 

prescriptions of the Bankruptcy Code.”).  “It is considered a “rough justice remedy [that] should 

be rare and, in any event, one of last resort after considering and rejecting other remedies.” In re 

Concepts Am., Inc., 2018 WL 2085615, at *3 (quoting In re Owens Corning, 419 F. 3rd 195, 211 

(3rd Cir. 2005) (quotation omitted), cert. denied, 547 U.S. 1123 (2006), citing In re Archdiocese 

of Milwaukee, 483 B.R. at 699).   

The cases in which consolidation of a non-debtor with a debtor has been allowed in other 

districts are not binding on this Court and predate, in most if not all cases, the Supreme Court’s 
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decision in Law v. Siegel. In Law, the Supreme Court made clear the rule that section 105(a) 

equitable power can only be used in furtherance of a specific Code provision, and not in 

contravention of the Code.  570 U.S. 415, 134 S. Ct. 1188, 1194 (2014) (“Section 105(a) confers 

authority to ‘carry out’ the provisions of the Code, but it is quite impossible to do that by taking 

action that the Code prohibits.”). Section 105(a) does not provide an independent source of 

authority to order relief and cannot be used to create substantive rights that are otherwise 

unavailable. Johnson, 719 F.2d at 274; see also In re NWFX, Inc., 864 F.2d 593, 595 (8th Cir. 

1989) (section 105(a) “does not empower a bankruptcy court to create new substantive rights”). 

Thus, “whatever equitable powers remain in the bankruptcy courts must and can only be 

exercised within the confines of the Bankruptcy Code.” See Norwest Bank Worthington v. 

Ahlers, 485 U.S. 197, 206–07 (1988) (holding that section 105 cannot be used in a manner that 

conflicts with the Code). 

The remedy of substantive consolidation is not mentioned, much less specifically 

authorized, by the Bankruptcy Code. The word “consolidation” appears only twice in the Code: 

at 11 U.S.C. § 302(b), which allows consolidation of the estates of two spouses in a joint 

bankruptcy proceeding involving both spouses); and at 11 U.S.C. § 1123(a)(5)(C), which permits 

consolidation “of the debtor with one or more persons” as part of a Chapter 11 plan of 

reorganization. Neither provision is applicable here. 

Significantly, an attempt to substantively consolidate non-debtors with a debtor has the 

practical effect of an involuntarily bankruptcy filing against the non-debtor entities. See J. 

Maxwell Tucker, Substantive Consolidation: the Cacophony Continues, 18 Am. Bankr. Inst. L. 

Rev. 89, 176 (2010) (“Granting a substantive consolidation order against a non-debtor entity is 

tantamount to an involuntary bankruptcy order.”). “[A]llowing substantive consolidation of non-
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debtors under § 105(a) circumvents the stringent procedures and protections relating to 

involuntary bankruptcy cases imposed by § 303 of the Bankruptcy Code.” In re Pearlman, 462 

B.R. at 854; see also In re Circle Land & Cattle Corp., 213 B.R. at 876 (“use of the court’s 

equitable powers to force a non-debtor into bankruptcy without § 303 protection for involuntary 

petitions conflicts with the express requirements of the Code.”); Water Bus. Int’l, L.L.C. v. KISS 

Packaging Sys., Inc., No. 03 C 0328, 2003 WL 21439844, at *2 (N.D. Ill. June 20, 2003) 

(denying stay on grounds that substantive consolidation is “sparingly used,” finding stay on such 

a ground is just as likely to result in needless delay (citing In re Circle, supra)). “The stakes of 

hastily forcing a party into involuntary bankruptcy are high because if the protective 

requirements of § 303 are not met, a court can hold all petitioning creditors liable for costs, 

attorneys’ fees, and damages.” In re Pearlman, 462. B.R. at 855 (citing 11 U.S.C. § 303(i)). 

“Bankruptcy courts cannot and should not simply drag unwilling entities that never chose to file 

bankruptcy into a bankruptcy forum simply because it is expedient and will help one party or 

another.” Id. 

“Given the significant protections § 303 provides to debtors facing involuntary 

bankruptcy, and the lack of commensurate protections for substantive consolidation, ‘forcing a 

non-debtor into bankruptcy via substantive consolidation circumvents these strict requirements 

and is in contravention of [the Code].’” Id. (quoting In re Ira S. Davis, 1993 WL 384501 at *7); 

see also In re Lease–A–Fleet, 141 B.R. at 873; In re Howland, 518 B.R. at 414 (“A bankruptcy 

court should not use its equitable powers to circumvent the Bankruptcy Code’s requirements.” 

(citing Law, 570 U.S. 415, 134 S. Ct. at 1194 (recognizing limits on bankruptcy court’s inherent 

equitable powers)). Because section 105 cannot be used to circumvent statutory protections built 
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into the Bankruptcy Code, it cannot be used in these circumstances to force the Foundation into 

bankruptcy through a Committee substantive consolidation motion.  

Even if the Court had the authority or ability to consolidate separate non-debtor entities 

with a debtor, such relief is nevertheless unavailable here because the Foundation is not a 

moneyed, business or commercial corporation. The substantive consolidation of a non-debtor 

with a debtor would involuntarily force that non-debtor into bankruptcy. When those non-

debtors are non-moneyed charitable or religious entities, as is uncontested here, such 

consolidation violates section 303(a) of the Bankruptcy Code. In re Archdiocese of Saint Paul & 

Minneapolis, 888 F.3d 944, 953 (8th Cir. 2018).  

Section 303(a) of the Bankruptcy Code specifies that certain entities, including non- 

moneyed corporations, such as charitable and religious organizations and corporations, are not 

subject to involuntary proceedings. 11 U.S.C. § 303(a) (providing that an involuntary case may 

not be commenced against, among others, “a corporation that is not a moneyed, business or 

commercial corporation”). The Foundation is a 501(c)(3) charitable non-profit corporation, against 

which an involuntary petition is prohibited by the Bankruptcy Code.  

In Circle Land & Cattle Corp., the court considered a motion to substantively consolidate 

a non-debtor farmer with a debtor. See 213 B.R. at 876. The court determined that “since [the 

entity sought to be consolidated] meets the definition of a farmer under § 101(20) of the Code, 

§ 303(a) excepts it from being placed in involuntary bankruptcy.” Id. The court determined that 

if the moving party were allowed to consolidate non-debtor farmer’s assets with the debtor’s, it 

would be obtaining relief “not permitted … under the Code.” Id. The court held, therefore, that 

“use of the court’s equitable powers to force a non-debtor into bankruptcy without § 303 

protection for involuntary petitions conflicts with the express requirements of the Code.” Id. See 
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In re Concepts Am., Inc., 2018 WL 2085615, at *6 (citing In re Archdioceses of Saint Paul and 

Minneapolis, 2018 WL 1954482, at *6 favorably which found that ”Section 303(a) prevents the 

use of § 105(a) to force truly independent non-profit entities into involuntary bankruptcy.”).  

The same analysis prevents consolidation here. There is no dispute that the Foundation is 

not a moneyed, business or commercial corporation and is therefore excepted from involuntary 

proceedings. Thus, the Committee cannot force the Foundation into bankruptcy as a matter of 

law, and it cannot, therefore, consolidate the Foundation’s assets with the Debtor’s estate.  Such 

a result expressly conflicts with the Bankruptcy Code and cannot be granted. See Law, 570 U.S. 

415, 134 S. Ct. at 1194.   

Accordingly, allowing the Committee to launch a barrage of discovery to explore claims 

it is not permitted to pursue as a matter of law is pointless, and should be denied as unsupported 

under the Bankruptcy Code and a waste of estate and judicial resources.  

CONCLUSION 

 

The Foundation respectfully requests that the Court deny the Motion and grant the 

Foundation such other and additional relief as is just and proper. 

Dated:  May 13, 2019 
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Respectfully submitted, 

 

/s/ Jeffrey A. Hokanson  

ICE MILLER LLP 
Jeffrey A. Hokanson (No. 14579-49) 
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Jeff.Hokanson@icemiller.com 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF INDIANA 

INDIANAPOLIS DIVISION 
 
 
M. DOE, a minor child by her parents,  ) 
and KELLY CUTRIGHT, on behalf of themselves  ) 
and all others similarly situated,   ) 
       ) 
Plaintiffs,      ) 
       ) No. 1:19-cv-01716 
vs.        )  
       ) JURY DEMANDED 
USA GYMNASTICS, THE NATIONAL  ) 
GYMNASTICS FOUNDATION,    ) 
ROE FOUNDATIONS 1-1000,   ) 
SAVANNAH METRO, INC.,   )  
WILLIAM MCCABE, and THE ESTATE   ) 
OF MARVIN SHARP, SHARP’S   ) 
GYMNASTICS ACADEMY    ) 

      ) 
Defendants.      ) 
 
 

CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT 
              

 
Come now Plaintiffs, M. Doe, a minor child, and Kelly Cutright, and bring the following 

action on behalf of themselves and all others who were abused by USA Gymnastics coaches, 

officials, employees, agents and volunteers other than Lawrence Nassar.  

I. INTRODUCTION 

In 1994, THE SAN FRANCISCO CHRONICLE published an investigative series into the 

rampant child sexual abuse in United States Gymnastics; the series was followed up with the 

publication of the book Little Girls In Pretty Boxes by Joan Ryan in 1995. Instead of taking steps 

to protect athletes from well documented child molesters among their membership, United States 

Gymnastics engaged in a systematic cover up designed to protect its brand – it intimidated victims 

into silence, while protecting pedophile coaches and officials, including Marvin Sharp, William 
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McCabe, and at least 52 others known to Plaintiffs’ counsel through their work in Jane Doe v. 

McCabe, ST13CV058RT in Effingham County, Georgia [hereinafter the “Effingham Case”]. The 

efforts of undersigned counsel were the impetus for the INDIANAPOLIS STAR’s 2016 exposé on 

sexual abuse of child athletes in USA Gymnastics (“Out Of Balance”)1. The resulting media 

coverage led multiple victims of Larry Nassar to come forward to the news outlet and has 

ultimately driven USA Gymnastics into bankruptcy. Over 300 girls and young women violated by 

USA Gymnastics physician Lawrence Nassar and a handful of women abused by other coaches 

have filed claims against USA Gymnastics in that bankruptcy, which is currently being litigated 

in the Southern District of Indiana (18-09108-RLM-11). Through their efforts in the Effingham 

Case, the undersigned counsel have learned of over 50 coaches, officials, volunteers, and 

administrators that have been accused of inappropriate sexual conduct, including assault and rape 

of minors, while serving USA Gymnastics in their various capacities. Named Plaintiffs are victims 

of two such coaches, Marvin Sharp (deceased)2 and William McCabe, who is currently 

incarcerated. This lawsuit seeks to protect the claims of the hundreds, if not thousands more, 

discernable child and adult victims of the at least 50 coaches, officials, employees/agents, and 

volunteers of USA Gymnastics who were sexually violated by someone other than Larry Nassar3 

while pursuing their passion for the sport of gymnastics .  

                                                      
1https://www.indystar.com/story/news/investigations/2016/08/04/usa-gymnastics-sex-abuse-
protected-coaches/85829732/ 
 
2https://www.indystar.com/story/news/crime/2015/12/21/indianapolis-gymnastics-coach-marvin-
sharpe-died-suffocation/77691840/ 
 
3 The victims of Dr. Nassar have received compensation from Michigan State University, the 
limited funds of USA Gymnastics and its insurance carriers are the only relief available to named 
Plaintiffs and the other members of the proposed class.  
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II. JURISDICTION 

1. This Court has jurisdiction over this matter as all Plaintiffs are diverse in citizenship 

from all Defendants.  

2. This Court has federal question jurisdiction under 28 U.S.C. § 1331 and 

supplemental jurisdiction under 28 U.S.C. § 1367 for the state law claims alleged.  

III. VENUE  

3. Venue is appropriate in this district because USA Gymnastics has its corporate 

headquarters in Indianapolis and because some of the Plaintiffs, included named Plaintiff M. Doe, 

were sexually assaulted in this district.  

IV. PARTIES  

Plaintiffs 

4. M. Doe is presently a minor child and is a resident of a state other than Indiana. She 

can be served through her counsel, Saeed and Little, LLP, whose contact information appears 

below.4  

5. Kelly Cutright is a resident of South Carolina, and can be served through her 

counsel, Saeed and Little, LLP, whose contact information appears below.  

Defendants  

6. Upon information and belief, Defendant USA Gymnastics, Inc. d/b/a USAG 

(“USAG” or “USA Gymnastics”) is, and at all times mentioned herein was, a Texas Corporation, 

with its principal place of business located in Indianapolis, Indiana. USAG is the National 

Governing Body for the sport of gymnastics in the United States. USAG can be served through its 

                                                      
4 The name, address, and date of birth of M. Doe will be provided to Defense Counsel and the 
Court separately.   
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registered agent at 132 E. Washington Street, Suite 700, Indianapolis, IN 46204. Plaintiffs 

acknowledge there is a currently a stay in Bankruptcy Court (18-09108-RLM-11) and will seek 

leave of  Court before serving USA Gymnastics in this case.   

7. Defendant National Gymnastics Foundation (“Foundation”), is a 501(c)(3) 

controlled by Defendant USAG; it can be served at 132 E. Washington Street Indianapolis, Indiana 

46204. 

8. Roe Foundations are unknown other corporate entities created by USAG.  

9. Upon information and belief, at all times relevant hereto, Defendant Savannah 

Metro, Inc. (“Savannah Metro”) was a Georgia Corporation, with its principal place of business 

located in Effingham County, Georgia. Savannah Metro operated as gymnastics facility. Savannah 

Metro can be served through its registered agent William A. McCabe, Inmate # 12753-021, 

incarcerated at FCI Fort Dix, Federal Correctional Institution, 5756 Hartford & Pointville Road 

Fort Dix, NJ 08640. 

10. Upon information and belief, at all times relevant hereto, William A. McCabe 

(“McCabe”) was a citizen and resident of Effingham County, Georgia. McCabe was the owner 

and operator of Savannah Metro and was a registered coach in “good standing” with USAG. 

McCabe was a coaching member of USAG and was governed by rules and regulations 

promulgated by USA Gymnastics. McCabe can be served as Inmate # 12753-021 at FCI Fort Dix, 

Federal Correctional Institution, 5756 Hartford & Pointville Road Fort Dix, NJ 08640. 

11. The Estate of Marvin Sharp can be served via alias summons.  

12. Sharp’s Gymnastics Academy can be served via alias summons.  
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V. FACTS 

General Facts Related to Defendants USA Gymnastics 
and National Gymnastics Foundation  

 
13. Defendant USAG is the National Governing Body for the sport of gymnastics. 

USAG is responsible for the administration of gymnastics in the United States.  

14. Per the Ted Stevens Amateur Sports Act, (36 U.S.C. § 220501), USAG is  

exclusively responsible for submitting the roster of coaches, athletes, officials, trainers, and 

administrators to the United States Olympic Committee to represent the United States in the sport 

of gymnastics throughout the United States and the rest of the world.   

15. An athlete cannot compete as a member of the U.S. Olympic team or in any other 

USAG sanctioned event without being a member of USA Gymnastics.  

16. In its capacity as the governing authority, USAG implements, formulates, and 

enforces rules, policies, and procedures for member coaches, member clubs, and member athletes 

throughout the United States. 

17. Since 1999 at the latest, the United States Olympic Committee has required USA 

Gymnastics to carry specific sexual abuse insurance.  

18. USA Gymnastics members, including Plaintiffs, paid membership dues to USA 

Gymnastics.  

19. Those dues were used, in part, to pay for the specific sexual abuse insurance.  

20. USA Gymnastics exercises a great deal of influence and control over its athlete 

members.  

21. For example, USA Gymnastics (a) specifies the clothing brands athlete members 

are permitted to wear in competition, (b) requires all athlete members to submit to random drug 
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testing, and (c) decides which events athletes are permitted to compete in to remain a member in 

good standing of USA Gymnastics.  

22. At all times relevant hereto, Savannah Metro and Sharp Gymnastics fielded 

competition level gymnastics teams that participated in USAG sanctioned meets and competitions 

pursuant to the rules and procedures of USAG.  

23. Upon information and belief, USAG requires member coaches and athletes to pay 

membership fees and abide by its policies and procedures. 

24. Upon information and belief, USAG can enforce its policies and procedures by 

prohibiting participation in sanctioned events and the Olympics, and by banning coaches and 

athletes from membership in USAG. 

25. The National Gymnastics Foundation was created in 1984, in large part with the 

proceeds earned by the United States Olympic Committee from the 1984 Los Angeles Olympic 

Games.  

26. Until 2008, the Foundation operated with reserves of approximately $4,000,000 on 

an annual basis.5  

27. Prior to 2008, the Foundation had annual expenses of less than $250,000.   

28. Through 2017, these expenses have been less than $1,000,000 annually.6  

29. The Board of the National Gymnastics Foundation was comprised of USA 

Gymnastics members and executives.  

30. The board members of USA Gymnastics and the Gymnastics Foundation were 

often comprised of the same persons, or persons who had recently left one board to join the other.  

                                                      
5https://usagym.org/PDFs/Forms/Special%20forms/IRS990-2008_ngf.pdf 
 
6https://usagym.org/PDFs/Forms/Special%20forms/IRS990-2017_ngf.pdf  
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31. However in 2009-10, in response to media coverage given to the epidemic of child 

sexual abuse in United States Swimming, USA Gymnastics and other National Governing Bodies 

began pouring large amounts of money into their foundations.  

32. Upon information and belief, USA Gymnastics began funding other, as yet 

unknown foundations as a response to the sexual abuse in United States Swimming being exposed 

on ABC’s 20/20 news program.   

33. USA Gymnastics, USA Swimming, and other NGBs began excessively funding 

their foundations to make the NGB – in this case USA Gymnastics – less liquid, due to their 

awareness of sexual abuse survivors filing law suits against them.  

34. At all relevant times, the Boards of the National Gymnastics Foundation and USA 

Gymnastics have been composed of largely the same people. 

35. John Hewett, the former Controller/CFO of USA Gymnastics, kept the books for 

the Foundation from 2008 (if not before) until 2018.   

36. John Hewett was the only member of the Foundation that received more than 

nominal compensation for his services to Foundation.  

37. In 2017, the Foundation paid John Hewett $140,000 in salary and estimated 

$21,000 in other compensation.  

Facts Related to the Sexual Assaults and/or Rapes of Named Plaintiffs  

Facts Related to the Sexual Assault of M. . Doe by Marvin Sharp 

38. M. Doe is a minor female.  

39. Marvin Sharp was the USA Gymnastics Coach of the Year in 2010.  

40. Marvin Sharp coached on USA Gymnastics’ National Team Staff.  
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41. Marvin Sharp coached USA Gymnastics Teams in Sports Act7 protected 

competitions.  

42. Marvin Sharp coached gymnasts who competed in the Olympic Games.  

43. Marvin Sharp coached athletes who competed for USA Gymnastics in several 

Sports Act protected competitions.  

44. Marvin Sharp was the coach that USA Gymnastics submitted to the USOC to coach 

its 2011 Pan American Games Team. 

45. M. Doe began competing and training in gymnastics in 2007 in Cincinnati, Ohio.  

46. In or around 2012, M. Doe’s coach resigned from his coaching duties.  

47. From 2013 through 2015, M. Doe competed as both a Level 10 and an elite 

gymnast. 

48. After her coach resigned, M. Doe sought a new elite level coach.  

49. In or around late 2013, M. Doe moved to Indianapolis to compete for and train with 

Sharp’s Gymnastics Academy.  

50. M. Doe was successful athletically under Marvin Sharp and received national 

recognition and rankings. 

51. Upon information and belief, by 2005 Marvin Sharp was collecting child 

pornography.  

52. Marvin Sharp was arrested in Indianapolis, Indiana in 2015 for possession of child 

pornography.  

                                                      
7 Codified at 36 U.S.C. § 220501.  
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53. Marvin Sharp died under suspicious circumstances in the Marion County Jail in 

September 2015.8  

54. Prior to opening a gym on the West side of Indianapolis in 2001,9 Sharp had 

coached in Cincinnati and North Carolina.  

55. Prior to 2015, USA Gymnastics had received complaints from athletes, parents, 

coaches, and others alleging that Marvin Sharp had been sexually inappropriate with young female 

gymnasts.  

56. USA Gymnastics took no action to investigate the complaints it received about 

Marvin Sharp.  

57. USA Gymnastics did not warn its members about the complaints it received 

regarding Sharp.  

58. A former coach of M. Doe, who is also a USA Gymnastics insider,  former leader 

of USA Gymnastics Women’s Elite Program  and a Larry Nassar defender,10 failed to warn M. 

Doe or her family of Sharp’s program in 2012, 2013, or 2014.  

59. In 2013, M. Doe began receiving physical therapy from Sharp. 

60. Upon information and belief, Sharp repeatedly asked M. Doe if he could take 

photographs of her wearing different outfits and leotards. 

                                                      
8https://www.wthr.com/article/jail-guards-charge-former-gymnastics-coach-falsified-records-
death-investigation 
 
9https://www.indystar.com/story/news/crime/2015/12/21/indianapolis-gymnastics-coach-marvin-
sharpe-died-suffocation/77691840/ 
 
10 http://www.espn.com/olympics/story/_/id/24538574/usa-gymnastics-asks-mary-lee-tracy-
resign-new-role-elite-development-coordinator  
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61. At some point during the photography sessions, and throughout his time as her 

coach, Sharp physically touched M. Doe.   

62. Sharp sexually assaulted M. Doe. 

63. Upon information and belief, Sharp sexually assaulted numerous other female 

members of USA Gymnastics.  

64. Upon information and belief Sharp sexually assaulted numerous other female non-

members of USA Gymnastics who trained at his gyms in Indiana, Ohio, and North Carolina.   

65. Upon information and belief, Sharp took sexually compromising pictures of 

numerous minor female athletes who were both members and non-members of USA Gymnastics.  

66. Despite being well aware of Sharp’s serial molestations and violations of his 

athletes, USA Gymnastics has not notified M. of the pending bankruptcy or the upcoming April 

29, 2019 claims bar date.  

Facts Related to the Rape of Kelly Cutright 

67. At all times relevant hereto, Plaintiff Kelly Cutright was a minor female athlete 

member of defendants USAG and Savannah Metro; she has since attained the age of majority. 

68. McCabe operated Savannah Metro as a member coach in good standing with USAG 

in Rincon, Georgia in the County of Effingham. 

69. USAG became aware of sexual misconduct by McCabe as early as 1998 when 

USAG received information from several different sources about McCabe’s inappropriate sexual 

behavior towards minors and other young women. 

70. In direct contradiction of USAG’s own written and oral policies, rules, and 

regulations, USAG  failed to properly investigate or take any action against McCabe and continued 
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to allow him to participate in sanctioned events and maintain his status as a coach in good standing 

with USAG. 

71. Until after his arrest in 2006, USAG’s actions of keeping McCabe listed as a coach 

in “good standing” provided McCabe access to Plaintiff Cutright and other victims and provided 

McCabe the opportunity to engage in sexually inappropriate conduct with the Ms. Cutright.  

72. Ms. Cutright began training at Savannah Metro when she was approximately 8-

years-old. 

73. McCabe became Ms. Cutright’s gymnastics coach and held this position of trust 

and confidence until his arrest in 2006. 

74. In the latter part of 2005, Defendant McCabe contacted Ms. Cutright through email 

and instant messages. Many of these communications were sexual in nature, including Defendant’s 

request to Ms. Cutright that she massage herself in her private areas.  Defendant also forwarded to 

her photographs of a female’s nude breasts and vagina. 

75. During this period of time, when Ms. Cutright was a USAG member athlete training 

at Savannah Metro gym, McCabe surreptitiously videotaped her in various states of undress, 

including the videotaping of her genitals. McCabe imported these videos to his computer and saved 

them in files on his computer making Ms. Cutright the object of child pornography. 

76. McCabe knowingly and intentionally forwarded from his computer to other persons 

copies of the nude videos and photographs of Ms. Cutright as the object of child pornography. 

77. Before McCabe committed his acts of sexually inappropriate conduct toward Ms. 

Cutright, her mother received some undated documents from an anonymous source which 

contained various allegations about McCabe.  
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78. In reliance on USAG’s false and misleading representations about McCabe, Ms. 

Cutright’s parents allowed her to continue training with McCabe.  

79. Her reliance on USAG’s false and misleading representations that McCabe was a 

person who could be trusted with children caused and contributed to Ms. Cutright’s injuries.  

80. Defendant McCabe’s criminal, inappropriate sexual conduct toward Ms. Cutright, 

including, but not limited to sexual harassment, sexual misconduct, and sexual abuse culminating 

in inappropriate sexual conduct occurred during the coach/athlete relationship and occurred during 

practice, meets, exhibitions, and other competitions supervised and/or sanctioned by Savannah 

Metro and USAG.  

Facts Related to Class 

This Class Is Certifiable  

February 2019 Northern District of Illinois Class Certification 

81. In February 2019, the Northern District of Illinois certified a class for both male 

and female members of an Illinois Volleyball Club owned by infamous coach molester Rick Butler  

(Mullen v. GLV, 2019 W 302670, N.D. IL). 

82. The Northern District of Illinois permitted Plaintiffs to proceed as a class on the 

premise that the athletes would not have joined the club if the club’s owners had been transparent 

about Coach Butler’s history of sexual exploitation of athletes.  

Numerosity and Discernibility  

83. The average child molester has more than 150 victims (www.childusa.org). 

Plaintiffs’ counsel has specific information obtained through other litigation against USA 

Gymnastics regarding accusations against 54 coaches.   
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84. Media reports indicate that debtor USA Gymnastics is aware of more coaches, 

officials, agents, and employees who have raped children and have yet to disclose those coach 

complaint files to anyone including the US Center For Safe Sport.11   

85. Plaintiffs’ counsel believes there are hundreds, likely thousands of victims of 

molestation by USA Gymnastics coaches, agents, officials, and employees who are known to 

USAG and who are completely unaware that their claims will be forever barred after April 2019.  

Class Allegations 

86. Plaintiffs bring this action individually and pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil 

Procedure 23(b)(2) and (b)(3) or (c)(4) on behalf of themselves and the following “Nationwide 

Classes”: 

(b)(2) Injunction Class 
 

All USAG-controlled female athletes (subject to the USAG’s “commercial terms” page or 
any other contract).  

 
(b)(3) and/or (c)(4) Damage Class  
 
All USAG -governed female athlete (subject to the USAG’s “commercial terms” page or 
any other contract and who (1) participated in USA Gymnastics from 1994 to present and 
(2) traveled or trained with any USA Gymnastics coach, official, administrator, employee, 
or volunteer who raped or otherwise sexually assaulted them  
 
87. The Classes consists of hundreds, if not thousands, of women throughout the U.S., 

making joinder impracticable, in satisfaction of Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(a)(1). 

88. The exact size of the Class and the identities of the individual members are 

ascertainable through records maintained by the USOC, the U.S. Center for Safe Sport,  Defendant 

USA Gymnastics, and others. 

                                                      
11 https://www.usatoday.com/story/sports/olympics/2018/05/16/sexual-abuse-usa-gymnastics-
makes-puzzling-decision-keep-case/608051002/  
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89. The claims of Plaintiffs are typical of the Classes. 

90. The claims of the Plaintiff and the Classes are based on the same legal theories and 

arise from the same unlawful pattern and practice of sexual abuse, exploitation, and trafficking of 

female gymnasts and other athletes; the promotion and cover-up of this misconduct; and the 

commercial benefits Defendants received engaging in this misconduct.  

91. There are many questions of law and fact common to the claims of Plaintiff and the 

Classes, and those questions predominate over any questions that may affect only individual Class 

members within the meaning of Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(a)(2), (b)(3), and (c)(4).  

92. Common questions of fact or common questions of law affecting members of the 

Classes include, but are not limited to, the following: 

a. Whether Defendants owed a legal duty to the members of the Class under 
federal and/or state law; 
 

b. Whether Defendants’ violations of the TVPA were knowing; 
 

c. Whether the Defendants engaged in forced labor or services; 
 

d. Whether McCabe’s, Sharp’s and others’ patterns of sexual abuse and 
exploitation was committed within the scope of their commercial 
arrangements/agency/employment with Defendant United States Gymnastics; 
 

e. Whether USA Gymnastics had knowledge of, or was willfully blind to, 
McCabe’s, Sharp’s and others sexual and physical misconduct; 
 

f. Whether USA Gymnastics facilitated the sexual misconduct; 
 

g. Whether USA Gymnastics acted in reckless disregard of the sexual and 
physical misconduct committed by McCabe, Sharp, and others; 
 

h. Whether USA Gymnastics  engaged in conduct designed to suppress, cover-up, 
or “in any way interfere with” complaints or reports regarding the sexual and 
physical misconduct of McCabe, Sharp, and others; 
 

i. Whether USA Gymnastics  negligently hired, retained, credentialed or 
supervised McCabe, Sharp, and others; and 
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j. Whether USA Gymnastics negligently hired, retained, credentialed or 
supervised McCabe, Sharp, and others.  

 
93. Absent a class action, most of the members of the Classes would find the cost of 

litigating their claims to be prohibitive and would have no effective remedy. The class treatment 

of common questions of law and fact is also superior to multiple individual actions or piecemeal 

litigation, particularly as to liability, in that it conserves the resources of the courts and the litigants 

and promotes the consistency and efficiency of adjudication. 

94. Plaintiffs will fairly and adequately represent and protect the interests of the 

Classes. Plaintiffs have retained counsel with substantial experience in prosecuting complex 

litigation and class actions, and who have expertise in prosecuting personal injury, sexual abuse, 

and civil rights cases on behalf of vulnerable victims.  

95. Plaintiffs and their counsel are committed to vigorously prosecuting this action on 

behalf of the other Class members, and they have the financial resources and experience in 

handling sex abuse cases to do so. 

96. Neither Plaintiffs nor their counsel have any interests adverse to those of the other 

members of the Classes.  

97. Plaintiffs and the Class will have personal injury damages that are individualized, 

but those can be managed separately.  

VI. CLAIMS FOR RELIEF 

98. The Sports Abuse Act of 2017 specifically amends the civil remedy provision in 18 

U.S.C. § 2255, which incorporates the Trafficking Victims Protection Act (“TVPA”) and a 

multitude of criminal sexual abuse statutes, with explicit concerns about sex trafficking.  

99. Section 2255 was enacted to allow minor victims of sex trafficking and sexual 

abuse to file a civil lawsuit in federal district court and seek a wide range of remedies. Section 
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2255 imposes civil liability against those who commit or benefit from the forced labor, trafficking, 

and exploitation of minors, especially if those actions include sexual abuse and exploitation. 

100. The Trafficking Victims Protection Act (“TVPA”), 18 U.S.C. §§ 1589-96, creates 

civil liability for those who commit or benefit from forced labor or services or sex trafficking and 

trafficking-related offenses, including those offenses enumerated in 18 U.S.C. §§ 1589, 1590, and 

1591. Violations of the TVPA include: forcing someone into labor or sexual services; knowingly 

benefitting from such forced labor or services; recruiting or transporting a person for labor or 

services against their will, especially if those actions include sexual abuse; attempting to commit 

these trafficking offenses; conspiring to commit these trafficking offenses; obstructing or 

interfering with efforts to enforce the TVPA; and benefitting financially from these offenses. 

101. The TVPA expressly authorizes civil remedies against both the perpetrator and 

others who knowingly benefit from violations of the TVPA. See 18 U.S.C. § 1595(a). 

102. Each of the Defendants benefitted financially and/or received something of value 

from the exploitation, forced sexual acts, and forced labor of the Plaintiffs. Under both the TVPA 

and Section 2255, the Defendants are liable for the following federal causes of action. 

CLAIMS OF NAMED PLAINTIFFS INDIVIDUALLY  

Count 1: Battery 
(M. Doe v. Sharp) 

103. Plaintiffs reallege and incorporate by reference each and every allegation contained 

in the preceding paragraphs as if fully set forth herein. 

104. Marvin Sharp did touch M. Doe in a rude, angry, or insolent matter while working 

as a USA Gymnastics coach.  

105. As a result of Marvin Sharp’s battery M. Doe suffered damages in an amount to be 

determined at trial.  
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 Count 2:  Negligence 
(M. Doe v. USA Gymnastics, Sharp Gymnastics Academy, The National Gymnastics 

Foundation, and Roe Foundations) 
 

106. Plaintiffs reallege and incorporate by reference each and every allegation contained 

in the preceding paragraphs as if fully set forth herein. 

107. Defendants United States Gymnastics, The National Gymnastics Foundation, Roe 

Foundations, and Sharp Gymnastics Academy owed Plaintiff a duty to keep her safe while 

competing, practicing, or training in their member gyms, with their credentialed and endorsed 

member coaches.  

108. Defendants USA Gymnastics, The National Gymnastics Foundation,  and Sharpe 

Gymnastics Academy knew that Marvin Shape had been accused of acting inappropriately with 

young female athletes prior to his violating M.B. Doe.  

109.  Defendant USA Gymnastics breached their duty to M.B. Doe when they failed to 

take any steps to protect M.B. Doe or other female athletes from Marvin Sharp, despite knowing 

Sharp was a sexual predator.  

110. USA Gymnastics and Sharp Gymnastics Academy breached caused M.B. Doe 

damages in an amount to be determined at trial.  

Count 3: Forced Labor in Violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1589(a), 1595(a), 2225 
(M. Doe v. USA Gymnastics, The National Gymnastics Foundation the Estate of Marvin 

Sharp, Sharp Gymnastics Academy) 
 

111. Plaintiffs reallege and incorporate by reference each and every allegation contained 

in the preceding paragraphs as if fully set forth herein. 

112. M. Doe is authorized to bring this civil claim against Defendants USA Gymnastics, 

the estate of Marvin Sharp, and Sharp Gymnastics Academy. 

113. In violation of 18 U.S.C. 1589(a) and 1595(a), Defendants Estate of Marvin Sharp 
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and Sharp Gymnastics Academy knowingly obtained forced sexual service from M. Doe by means 

of serious harm or threats of serious harm in violation of 18 U.S.C. 1589(a)(2), and through a 

scheme, plan, or pattern with Defendant USA Gymnastics, Marvin Sharpe intended to cause M. to 

believe that if she did not perform labor or services, she would suffer serious harm or physical 

restraint in violation of 1589(a)(4).  

114. In violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1589 and 1595, USA Gymnastics and the other above-

named USA Gymnastics-affiliated Defendants (in this Count, “USA Gymnastics”), knowingly 

benefited from participation in a venture with Marvin Sharpe, knowing, or with reckless disregard 

of fact, that the venture was engaged in the providing or obtaining of M. Doe’s forced labor or 

services by means of force, threats of force, physical restraint, threats of physical restraint, serious 

harm or threats of serious harm, and/or a scheme, plan, or pattern intended to cause M. Doe to 

believe that, if she did not perform such labor or services, she would suffer serious harm or physical 

restraint. USA Gymnastics also knowingly benefitted from participating in a venture with Marvin 

Sharpe whom which it knew or should have known was engaging in violations of the TVPA.  

115. USA Gymnastics knew or recklessly disregarded the fact that Marvin Sharpe was 

obtaining M. Doe’s forced labor or sexual services.  

116. Defendant USA Gymnastics knew or should have known the conditions under 

which Marvin Sharpe was “coaching” M. Doe. 

117. Defendant USA Gymnastics aided and abetted Marvin Sharpe. 

118. As a direct and proximate  result of the actions of Defendants, M. Doe has suffered 

personal injuries, including severe emotional, physical injuries, and economic injuries and these 

injuries continue.  

119. M. Doe claims damages in an amount to be proven at trial including attorney fees, 
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injunctive relief and other relief the Court may deem proper.  

Count 4.  Battery 
(Kelly Cutright v. McCabe) 

120. Plaintiffs reallege and incorporate by reference each and every allegation contained 

in the preceding paragraphs as if fully set forth herein. 

121. Defendant McCabe did touch Kelly in a rude, angry, or insolent manner while 

working as a USA Gymnastics coach. 

122. As a result of McCabe’s battery Kelly did suffer injuries in an amount to be 

determined at trial.  

Count 5: Negligence 
(Kelly Cutright  v. USAG, The National Gymnastics Foundation, Savannah Metro, Inc.) 

123. Plaintiffs reallege and incorporate by reference each and every allegation contained 

in the preceding paragraphs as if fully set forth herein. 

124. Defendants USAG, The National Gymnastics Foundation, and Savannah Metro, 

owed Ms. Cutright a duty to keep her safe, while competing, practicing, or training in their member 

gyms, with their credentialed and endorsed member coaches. 

125.  Defendants USAG, The National Gymnastics Foundation, and Savannah Metro 

had actual knowledge that Defendant McCabe had been accused of sexually assaulting young 

female athletes prior to McCabe’s sexual assault of Kelly.  

126. Defendants USAG, The National Gymnastics Foundation, and Savannah Metro, 

when they collectively failed to take any steps to protect Kelly and other female athletes from 

McCabe despite knowing that he was a sexual predator.  

127. Defendants USA Gymnastics, the National Gymnastics Foundation, and Savannah 

Metro  
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VII. DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL 

Plaintiffs demand a jury trial on all issues and matters so triable. 
 
 

VIII. PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

 

Wherefore, Plaintiffs respectfully requests that this Court will: 
 

A. Enter judgment against Defendants, jointly and severally, in such amounts as will 

fully and adequately compensate Plaintiffs for the damages they have suffered, in 

an amount to be determined at trial; 

B. Award Plaintiffs punitive damages against Defendants, jointly and severally, in an 

amount to be determined by the jury for Defendants’ violations of federal law; 

C. Award Plaintiffs pre-judgment and post-judgment interest; 

D. Award Plaintiffs their actual expenses of litigation, including reasonable attorney’s 

fees; 

E. Award Plaintiffs injunctive relief that requires USAG to put in place (and fund) 

supervision and compliance protocols that actually prevent, uncover, and stop the 

sexual abuse, exploitation, and trafficking of Team USA’s athletes; 

F. Appoint Plaintiffs as class representatives; 

G. Appoint Plaintiffs’ counsel as counsel for the class; 

H. Award Plaintiffs such other and further relief as the Court deems just and proper. 
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      Respectfully Submitted,  

 
 

      s/ Jonathan Little       
Jonathan Little, No. 27421-49 
Syed Ali Saeed 
Saeed and Little, LLP 
#189-133  Market Street 
Indianapolis, IN 46202 

    317-721-9214  
jon@sllawfirm.com 
ali@sllawfirm.com 
 
 
W. Brian Cornwell (petition for admission  
forthcoming)  
Cornwell & Stevens, LLP 
317 W. York Street  
Savannah. Georgia 31401  
912-417-4597  
bcornwell@cornwellstevens.com 
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B2540 (Form 2540 – Subpoena for Rule 2004 Examination) (12/15)

UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT
_______________________________________ District of ___________________________________________

In re __________________________________________
Debtor

Case No. _____________________

Chapter ______________

SUBPOENA FOR RULE 2004 EXAMINATION

To:  ________________________________________________________________________________________
(Name of person to whom the subpoena is directed)

Testimony: YOU ARE COMMANDED to appear at the time, date, and place set forth below to testify at an examination 
under Rule 2004, Federal Rules of Bankruptcy Procedure.  A copy of the court order authorizing the examination is attached.
PLACE DATE AND TIME

The examination will be recorded by this method: ___________________________________________________________

Production: You, or your representatives, must also bring with you to the examination the following documents, 
electronically stored information, or objects, and must permit inspection, copying, testing, or sampling of the material:

The following provisions of Fed. R. Civ. P. 45, made applicable in bankruptcy cases by Fed. R. Bankr. P. 9016, are 
attached – Rule 45(c), relating to the place of compliance; Rule 45(d), relating to your protection as a person subject to a 
subpoena; and Rule 45(e) and 45(g), relating to your duty to respond to this subpoena and the potential consequences of not 
doing so.

Date:  _____________
CLERK OF COURT                        

________________________
Signature of Clerk or Deputy Clerk

OR

                                                    

________________________
Attorney’s signature

The name, address, email address, and telephone number of the attorney representing (name of party)
____________________________ , who issues or requests this subpoena, are:

Notice to the person who issues or requests this subpoena
If this subpoena commands the production of documents, electronically stored information, or tangible things, or the 
inspection of premises before trial, a notice and a copy of this subpoena must be served on each party before it is served on
the person to whom it is directed.  Fed. R. Civ. P. 45(a)(4).

Southern Indiana

USA Gymnastics 18-09108

11

National Gymnastics Foundation

See Exhibit 1. Documents responsive to this subpoena should be provided to James I. Stang, Esq., at Pachulski Stang Ziehl
& Jones LLP, 10100 Santa Monica Blvd., 13th Floor, Los Angeles, CA 90067, within 30 days of service of this subpoena.

May ___, 2019

Sexual Abuse Survivors' Committee

James I. Stang, Esq., Pachulski Stang Ziehl & Jones LLP 10100 Santa Monica Blvd., 13th Floor, Los Angeles, CA 90067, Tel. (310)
277-6910, jstang@pszjlaw.com
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B2540 (Form 2540 – Subpoena for Rule 2004 Examination) (Page 2)( p ) ( g )

PROOF OF SERVICE
(This section should not be filed with the court unless required by Fed. R. Civ. P. 45.)

I received this subpoena for (name of individual and title, if any): ______________________________________________ 
on (date) __________ .

I served the subpoena by delivering a copy to the named person as follows: ____________________________________
___________________________________________________________________________________________________
__________________________________ on (date) ___________________ ; or 

I returned the subpoena unexecuted because:  ____________________________________________________________
___________________________________________________________________________________________________

Unless the subpoena was issued on behalf of the United States, or one of its officers or agents, I have also tendered to the 
witness the fees for one day’s attendance, and the mileage allowed by law, in the amount of  $ _______________________ .

My fees are $ _________ for travel and $_________ for services, for a total of $_________ .

I declare under penalty of perjury that this information is true and correct.

Date:  _______________
________________________________________________

Server’s signature

________________________________________________
Printed name and title

________________________________________________
Server’s address

Additional information concerning attempted service, etc.:
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B2540 (Form 2540 – Subpoena for Rule 2004 Examination) (Page 3)( p ) ( g )

Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 45(c), (d), (e), and (g) (Effective 12/1/13)
(made applicable in bankruptcy cases by Rule 9016, Federal Rules of Bankruptcy Procedure)

(c) Place of compliance.

   (1) For a Trial, Hearing, or Deposition. A subpoena may command a 
person to attend a trial, hearing, or deposition only as follows:
      (A) within 100 miles of where the person resides, is employed, or 
regularly transacts business in person; or 
      (B) within the state where the person resides, is employed, or regularly 
transacts business in person, if the person 
         (i) is a party or a party’s officer; or
         (ii) is commanded to attend a trial and would not incur substantial 
expense.

   (2) For Other Discovery. A subpoena may command:
      (A) production of documents, or electronically stored information, or 
things at a place within 100 miles of where the person resides, is employed, 
or regularly transacts business in person; and
      (B) inspection of premises, at the premises to be inspected.

(d) Protecting a Person Subject to a Subpoena; Enforcement.

(1) Avoiding Undue Burden or Expense; Sanctions. A party or 
attorney responsible for issuing and serving a subpoena must take 
reasonable steps to avoid imposing undue burden or expense on a person 
subject to the subpoena. The court for the district where compliance is 
required must enforce this duty and impose an appropriate sanction —
which may include lost earnings and reasonable attorney's fees — on a 
party or attorney who fails to comply.

   (2) Command to Produce Materials or Permit Inspection.
      (A) Appearance Not Required. A person commanded to produce 
documents, electronically stored information, or tangible things, or to 
permit the inspection of premises, need not appear in person at the place of 
production or inspection unless also commanded to appear for a deposition, 
hearing, or trial.
      (B) Objections. A person commanded to produce documents or tangible 
things or to permit inspection may serve on the party or attorney designated 
in the subpoena a written objection to inspecting, copying, testing or 
sampling any or all of the materials or to inspecting the premises — or to 
producing electronically stored information in the form or forms requested. 
The objection must be served before the earlier of the time specified for 
compliance or 14 days after the subpoena is served. If an objection is made, 
the following rules apply:
         (i) At any time, on notice to the commanded person, the serving party 
may move the court for the district where compliance is required for an 
order compelling production or inspection.
         (ii) These acts may be required only as directed in the order, and the 
order must protect a person who is neither a party nor a party's officer from 
significant expense resulting from compliance.

   (3) Quashing or Modifying a Subpoena.
      (A) When Required. On timely motion, the court for the district where 
compliance is required must quash or modify a subpoena that:
         (i) fails to allow a reasonable time to comply; 
         (ii) requires a person to comply beyond the geographical limits 
specified in Rule 45(c);
         (iii) requires disclosure of privileged or other protected matter, if no 
exception or waiver applies; or
         (iv) subjects a person to undue burden.
      (B) When Permitted. To protect a person subject to or affected by a 
subpoena, the court for the district where compliance is required may, on 
motion, quash or modify the subpoena if it requires:
         (i) disclosing a trade secret or other confidential research, 
development, or commercial information; or

         (ii) disclosing an unretained expert's opinion or information that does 
not describe specific occurrences in dispute and results from the expert's 
study that was not requested by a party.
      (C) Specifying Conditions as an Alternative. In the circumstances 
described in Rule 45(d)(3)(B), the court may, instead of quashing or 
modifying a subpoena, order appearance or production under specified 
conditions if the serving party:
          (i) shows a substantial need for the testimony or material that cannot 
be otherwise met without undue hardship; and
          (ii) ensures that the subpoenaed person will be reasonably 
compensated.

(e) Duties in Responding to a Subpoena.

   (1) Producing Documents or Electronically Stored Information. These 
procedures apply to producing documents or electronically stored 
information:
      (A) Documents. A person responding to a subpoena to produce 
documents must produce them as they are kept in the ordinary course of 
business or must organize and label them to correspond to the categories in 
the demand.
      (B) Form for Producing Electronically Stored Information Not 
Specified. If a subpoena does not specify a form for producing 
electronically stored information, the person responding must produce it in 
a form or forms in which it is ordinarily maintained or in a reasonably 
usable form or forms.
      (C) Electronically Stored Information Produced in Only One Form. The 
person responding need not produce the same electronically stored 
information in more than one form.
      (D) Inaccessible Electronically Stored Information. The person 
responding need not provide discovery of electronically stored information 
from sources that the person identifies as not reasonably accessible because 
of undue burden or cost. On motion to compel discovery or for a protective 
order, the person responding must show that the information is not 
reasonably accessible because of undue burden or cost. If that showing is 
made, the court may nonetheless order discovery from such sources if the 
requesting party shows good cause, considering the limitations of Rule 
26(b)(2)(C). The court may specify conditions for the discovery.

   (2) Claiming Privilege or Protection.
      (A) Information Withheld. A person withholding subpoenaed 
information under a claim that it is privileged or subject to protection as 
trial-preparation material must:
         (i) expressly make the claim; and
         (ii) describe the nature of the withheld documents, communications, 
or tangible things in a manner that, without revealing information itself 
privileged or protected, will enable the parties to assess the claim.
      (B) Information Produced. If information produced in response to a 
subpoena is subject to a claim of privilege or of protection as trial-
preparation material, the person making the claim may notify any party that 
received the information of the claim and the basis for it. After being 
notified, a party must promptly return, sequester, or destroy the specified 
information and any copies it has; must not use or disclose the information 
until the claim is resolved; must take reasonable steps to retrieve the 
information if the party disclosed it before being notified; and may  
promptly present the information under seal to the court for the district 
where compliance is required for a determination of the claim. The person 
who produced the information must preserve the information until the claim 
is resolved.
…
(g) Contempt. The court for the district where compliance is required – and 
also, after a motion is transferred, the issuing court – may hold in contempt 
a person who, having been served, fails without adequate excuse to obey 
the subpoena or an order related to it.

For access to subpoena materials, see Fed. R. Civ. P. 45(a) Committee Note (2013)
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DEFINITIONS 

The definitions of terms provided by the Federal Rules of Bankruptcy Procedure 

and the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, where applicable, are incorporated herein by reference. 

As used herein, the term “communication” means all inquiries, discussions, 

conversations, negotiations, agreements, understandings, meetings, telephone conversations, 

letters, notes, telegrams, correspondence, memoranda, emails, facsimile transmissions, or other 

form of verbal, written, mechanical, or electronic disclosure, in your actual or constructive 

control or custody of any of your current or former affiliates, representatives, advisors and 

counsel.  The term includes the provision, receipt, or exchange of any information or opinion, in 

any manner or form, including emails (and attachments) sent to or from any personal email 

accounts (e.g., any Gmail or Hotmail accounts).   

As used herein, the term “document” means all writings (including notes, 

correspondence, memoranda, reports, computer print-outs, journal entries, and emails), drawings, 

drafts, charts, photographs, tape or disc recordings (whether computer, sound or video), and all 

data compilations from which information can be obtained or translated, which are in your 

possession, custody or control or which are known to you.  Documents does not include the notes 

or memoranda of your attorneys made in connection with this case or correspondence between 

you and your attorney pertaining to this case to the extent such information remains protected by 

any applicable privilege. 

As used herein, the he term “person” or “persons” means any individual, 

corporation, limited liability company, partnership, firm, association, governmental entity or 
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other organization recognizable at law, and its directors, officers, agents, representatives and 

employees. 

As used herein, the term “electronically stored information” or “ESI” means, 

without limitation, all information contained on any email account (e.g., Gmail or Hotmail), any 

computing device owned, maintained, or otherwise controlled by you, including, but not limited 

to, mainframe, desktop, laptop, tablet, or palmtop computers, network servers, telephone 

voicemail servers, employees’ employer-provided home computers, and the personal digital 

assistants (PDAs), digital cell phones, telephone answering machines, pagers, or other 

information-storing electronic devices of you and your employees, or on associated external 

storage media, backup tapes, and other archival copies of same.  Unless otherwise specified, 

documents, reports, and other ESI created using any version of Microsoft Word, Powerpoint, 

Excel, Visio, or Access, Word Perfect, Oracle, or any other Microsoft, Adobe, or other currently 

available “off-the-shelf” application shall be produced in native form; that is, the form in which 

the document is currently stored on whatever media it currently resides.  The document should 

not be locked, resaved, restructures, “scrubbed” of unapparent or hidden content or any other 

data or metadata, but rather should be produced in a copy precisely reproducing its entire state as 

present in your systems.  Unless otherwise specified, electronic mail (e-mail) should be produced 

in native form; that is, in whatever database and/or file/directory structures are used by your mail 

processing software.  All metadata and other unapparent or hidden data related to mail messages 

shall be produced, including, but not limited to, any file attachments, message priority flags, 

message read/access timestamps, and, in the case of e-mail sent to distribution lists, information 
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on the membership of such lists at the time the e-mail was sent. 

As used herein, the phrases “relating to” and “concerning” mean consisting of, 

referring to, reflecting or being legally, logically, or factually connected in any way with the 

subject matter. 

As used herein, the term “identify” when referring to a person means to give, to 

the extent known, the person’s full name, present or last known address, and when referring to a 

natural person, additionally, the present or last known place of employment.  Once a person has 

been identified in accordance with this definition, only the name of that person need be listed in 

response to subsequent discovery requesting the identification of that person.  When referring to 

documents, “to identify” means to give, to the extent known, the (i) type of document; (ii) 

general subject matter; (iii) date of the document; and (iv) author(s), addressee(s), and 

recipient(s). 

As used herein, the term “including” shall mean “including but not limited to”.   

As used herein, the term “evidencing” shall mean describing, discussing, referring 

to, reflecting, relating to, concerning, constituting, regarding, bearing upon, supporting, 

summarizing, pertaining to, alluding to, depicting, summarizing, involving, embodying, 

containing, suggesting, mentioning, arising out of, in connection with, or having any logical or 

factual connection with the matter in question. 

As used herein, the term “Debtor” refers to USA Gymnastics. 

 

As used herein, the term “USAG” refers to USA Gymnastics. 
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As used herein, the term “NGF” refers to the National Gymnastics Foundation.   

As used herein, the term “Form 990” refers to Federal “Return of Organization 

Exempt From Income Tax”. 

The singular includes the plural and vice versa; the words “and” and “or” shall be 

both conjunctive and disjunctive; the word “all” means “any and all”; and the word “any” means 

“any and all”; the word “including” means “including without limitation.” 
 

INSTRUCTIONS 

If any portion of any document is responsive to any request, then the entire 

document must be produced.  Documents shall be produced in the order in which they are found 

or kept in your files and shall not be shuffled or otherwise rearranged.  Documents that are found 

stapled, clipped, or otherwise fastened or filed together shall be produced in such form. 

All Documents that are stored electronically, i.e. ESI, must be produced according 

to the following, unless otherwise agreed: (a) transmit electronic documents or ESI on a hard 

drive, CDs, and/or DVDs, or let us know if you are amenable to an ftp site upload; (b) use .tiff 

format for all documents; (c) if you are providing documents in .tiff format, please produce those 

documents on Summation-ready CDs or DVDs in .tiff and text format; (d) if you are providing 

documents in .tiff format, also produce a Summation load file; (e) however, if the conversion of 

documents to .tiff format will introduce any delay into your production, produce the documents 

in “as is” format (e.g., pst as pst, Microsoft Word as Microsoft Word, Excel as Excel); (f) if you 

are producing emails and attachments in “as is” format, transmit those emails and their 

attachments in Microsoft Outlook.pst format with a maximum of 2 GB per file; (g) if you are 
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producing emails and attachments in “as is” format, also name emails incrementally by custodian 

(i.e., Custodian001.pst, Custodian002.pst).  Documents may be produced in paper format to the 

extent they are stored in paper format. 

If any documents called for by any request herein has been destroyed, lost, 

discarded, or otherwise not capable of being produced, at the time that documents are produced, 

identify such document; identify any person who has possession, custody, or control of the 

document; indicate the paragraph(s) of this request to which such document relates; and set forth 

the circumstances under which the document was destroyed or discarded or as an explanation of 

why the document is not capable of being produced. 

For each document withheld by reason of a claim of privilege, work product, or 

other ground of non-production, provide a list identifying such document together with:  (a) the 

date of the document; (b) the identity of the author or preparer; (c) the identity of each person 

who was sent or furnished with the document or who received or had possession or custody of 

the document; (d) a brief description of the document, including identification of any 

attachments or appendices; (e) a statement of the basis of the claim of privilege; and (f) the 

paragraph of this request to which the document is responsive.  In the case of document 

concerning a meeting or conversation, identify all participants in the meeting or conversation. 

If any document or portion of a document is provided in a language other than 

English, the document should be accompanied by a translation to English.   

This request shall be deemed continuing in character, so as to require further and 

supplemental production if additional documents are obtained or become accessible after the 
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time of initial production. 
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DOCUMENT/MATERIAL REQUESTS  

1. All articles of incorporation for NGF since its inception. 
2. All bylaws of NGF since its inception. 
3. Names of all directors of NGF since its inception. 
4. Names of all officers of NGF since its inception. 
5. Names of all members of any committee of the NGF Board of Directors 
6. Names of all committees and subcommittees of Board of Directors of NGF. 
7. Minutes of all meetings of the NGF board of directors, board of director committees and 

subcommittees of such committees.   
8. Account statements for all NGF bank and investment accounts from 2008 to 2019.   
9. All NGF annual financial statements.   
10. All NGF IRS 990 statements, except those on the Debtor’s website.  
11. All agreements between USA Gymnastics and NGF, including but not limited to any cost 

sharing agreements and real property leases/subleases/use agreements.   
12.  NGF’s chart of accounts for its general ledger since inception. 
13. Schedule of all USAG receipts from and transfers to NGF from 2008 to present, 

including amount, date, check number, wire transfer number and general ledger account 
number to which receipt or transfer is posted. 

14. All documents from NGF’s inception to present between USAG and NGF regarding the 
maintenance of NGF’s books and records, preparation of checks for NGF, NGF bank 
statements, NGF checking accounts and NGF financial statements .  

15. All documents evidencing donor restrictions on any funds held by NGF in accounts of 
more than $10,000. 

16. NGF’s general ledger from its inception to the present. 
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